
 

                         
 
 
 
 

                             
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 
 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEETING 
 

MAY 15, 2025 
 

AGENDA PACKET 
 



Town of Melbourne Beach 
 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEETING 
THURSDAY, MAY 15, 2025, 6:00 P.M. 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
AGENDA 

 
Board Members:          Staff Members: 
Chairman Robert Schaefer         Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro  
Member Xochitl Ross         Town Clerk Amber Brown 
Member Charles Cain         Town Attorney Ryan Knight 
Member Pete Peterson         Town Planner Corey O’Gorman 
Member James D. Simmons 
Alternate Travis Hunsucker 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. ROLL CALL 

 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

A. February 20, 2025 minutes 
    

4. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
A. Variance Application #VV2025-0002, 301 Oak Street 

 
5. NEW BUSINESS 

 
6. OLD BUSINESS  

 

7. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 286.0105, FLORIDA STATUTES, if an individual decides to appeal any decision made by the Board of Adjustment 
with respect to any matter considered at this meeting, a verbatim transcript of the proceedings may be required and the individual 
may need to ensure that a verbatim transcript of the proceedings is made. 
One or more Commission members may be present at this meeting. 
In accordance with the Americans with Disability Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons needing special accommodations 
to participate in this meeting shall, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting, contact the Office of the Town Clerk at (321) 724-5860. 



Page 1 of 5 
 

Town of Melbourne Beach 
 
 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEETING 
THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 20, 2025 

COMMUNITY CENTER, 509 OCEAN AVENUE 
 

MINUTES 
 

Board Members:     Staff Members: 
Chairman Robert Schaefer   Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 
Vice Chair Xochitl Ross    Town Clerk Amber Brown  
Member Charles Cain     Building Official Robert Bitgood 
Member James D. Simmons   Town Planner Corey O’Gorman 
Member Peter Peterson    Town Attorney Ryan Knight 
Alternate Travis Hunsucker 
Alternate Marivi Walker 

 

1. Call to Order  
 Chairman Robert Schaefer called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 

2. Roll Call  
 Town Clerk Amber Brown led the roll call. 
 
 Members Present:     Staff Present: 
 Chairman Robert Schaefer    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 
 Vice Chair Xochitl Ross    Town Attorney Ryan Knight 
 Member Charles Cain     Town Planner Corey O’Gorman 
 Member James D. Simmons    Building Official Robert Bitgood 
 Member Peter Peterson    Town Clerk Amber Brown 
 

Members Absent: 
Alternate Travis Hunsucker 
Alternate Marivi Walker 

   
3. Approval of Minutes  

A. August 15, 2024 minutes 
 

Member James Simmons moved to approve the minutes from August 15, 2024; Member Charles 
Cain seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 



Page 2 of 5 
 

 
4. Public Hearing 

A. Variance Application #VV2025-0001, 1200 Orange Street 
 
Chairman Robert Schaefer introduced the agenda item and spoke about the variance 
being for two lot lines to add an addition to the house. 
 
Erin McMullen – 1200 Orange St – Spoke about her family living at the address with her 
brother and mother. The variance is to allow her brother who is in a wheelchair to have an 
area of his own for independence while still being on the property to get help with his 
physical and medical needs.  
 
Chairman Robert Schaefer introduced the variance and read parts of the application. The 
property is a corner lot with 25-foot setbacks. This is a variance for 2 setbacks to build to 
9 foot 10 inches on one side and 10 foot 8 inches on the other. 
 
Member James Simmons asked if cost effectiveness is allowed to be considered versus 
considering other solutions.  
 
Town Attorney Ryan Knight read Town Code Section 7A-152(d) a-d which are the criteria 
to be considered and apply the facts to make a determination. 

 
Member Charles Cain asked about the staff response to items a and c. 

 
Erin McMullen – 1200 Orange – Spoke about they did look into converting the garage and 
the slab elevation is not the same, and that would require removing a window from a 
bedroom in the home which is required to have the bedroom. Spoke about it being more 
costly to convert the garage. 
 
Matthew McMullen – 1200 Orange – The other issue with using the garage was the roof 
elevation, and the amount of work and scope of it according to the architect it would not 
be feasible.  
 
Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about having conversations with the architect 
about required dimensions needed as well as affordability in terms of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. 
 
Member James Simmons asked if they have looked into building a second floor with an 
elevator. 
 
Erin and Matthew McMullen – 1200 Orange – Spoke about that is even more costly 
around $350,000.  
 
Member Charles Cain asked for clarification on why the two structures having a different 
elevation would be an issue. 
 



Page 3 of 5 
 

Erin and Matthew McMullen – 1200 Orange St – Spoke about the garage conversion 
being costly due to all the work that would be needed. 
 
Kara Parks – 403 Anchor Key – Spoke about this process has cost a lot to get this on the 
agenda. If there were any other options, they would have done it. 
 
Member James Simmons spoke about this variance is a huge ask. This is going to be a 
major decision.  
 
Erin and Matthew McMullen – 1200 Orange St – Spoke about doing this because it is 
there only option and this is truly necessary. The current home is not sustainable. They 
would do anything on the lot to make this accommodation.  
 
Vice Chair Xochitl Ross asked about the pervious vs impervious calculation. 
 
Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about having conversations with the design 
professional and that she assured him the 30% leftover pervious would stay in effect and 
they would remove several things to maintain that. 
 
Haley Conrad – 2100 Oak St – Spoke about being an engineer and deals with ADA a lot. 
The Board needs to look at the legal aspects.  
 
Jan Futch Guillbeau – 806 Oak – Spoke about supporting whatever Brandon needs and 
supports ADA needs. Does not care about setbacks. Just get him what he needs. 
 
Brad Cushing – 403 Anchor Key - If there is ever a reason to grant a variance, it should be 
for ADA compliance. 
 
Member James Simmons asked if there was any feedback from the mailings to the 
residents. 
 
Town Clerk Amber Brown spoke about there has not been any feedback. 
 
Member Charles Cain spoke about considering the best interest of everybody else outside 
of this situation and his concern about setting precedent in regard to changing setbacks. 
 
Member Peter Peterson spoke about this situation being more important than setbacks 
and something needed for a member of the community. 
 
Vice Chair Xochitl Ross spoke about wanting to put a stipulation that it cannot be rented 
out separate from the home.  
 
Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about not being able to put in a stipulation about not 
renting out a portion of the residence. He also reminded the board members to strictly 
look at the evidence being presented today and not to base their decision on personal 
feelings. 



Page 4 of 5 
 

 
Member James Simmons asked about whether a restriction against rental could be put in 
as part of the development work like can be done with a special exception. He asked the 
homeowners if they would be willing to enter into a binding development agreement. 

 
Erin and Matthew McMullen – 1200 Orange St – Asked the board to look at the evidence 
put in front of them right now and not what could happen with a potential home buyer in 
the far future. 
 
Chair Robert Schaefer expressed concern as to whether a binding development 
agreement could hold any water and actually prevent someone using the home for a 
vacation rental because they are not illegal. 
 
Town Attorney Ryan Knight provided another reminder for the board to base their 
decision-making on the four factors in the staff report, not on future use. 

 
 

Member James Simmons moved to approve variance VV2025-0001 at 1200 Orange St; Member 
Peter Peterson seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 
 

5. New Business 
A. Appointment of the 2025 Chairperson 

 
Member James Simmons made a motion for Robert Schaefer as the Chairperson; Member Charles 
Cain seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 
 

B. Approval of the 2025 meeting schedule 
 
Member James Simmons made a motion to approve; Vice Chair Xochitl Ross seconded; Motion 
carried 5-0. 
 

C. Interpretation of the Official Zoning Map 
 
Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro explained how she discovered that there were multiple 
zoning maps floating around with conflicting zoning. 
 
Vice Chair Xochitl Ross asked if the resident who asked about his zoning wants something 
that he can’t have. 
 
Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro said that he wanted the zoning that he thought he had 
(3RM). 
 
Chairman Robert Schaefer stated that his opinion would be to select the existing map 
that shows the address in question as 3RS. 
 



Page 5 of 5 
 

Member James Simmons asked if the map had any other errors that needed correction 
such as town boundaries. 
 
Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro confirmed that the town boundaries are correct. 
 
Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro described how some of the multi-family parcels are 
larger than they were on the first map circa 1967. 
 
Member Charles Cain mentioned that the current map appears to have small boxes inside 
the parcels to show the building, which makes the map more confusing to view. 
 
Town Clerk Amber Brown explained that the boxes indicate individual owners. 
 
Member James Simmons asked for confirmation that we’re not changing the zoning and 
setting ourselves up for an issue in the future. 
 
Town Attorney Ryan Knight confirmed that we are not changing the zoning, only 
correcting a scrivener’s error on the map. 

 
Member Charles Cain made a motion to make a determination that the Mayor 31, 2012 Official 
Zoning Map on page 65 is a true and correct map delineating the districts; Member James Simmons 
seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 
 

 
6. Adjournment 

 
Member James Simmons moved to adjourn; Chairman Robert Schaefer seconded; Motion carried 
5-0. 

 
 The meeting adjourned at 7:20 p.m. 
 

         ATTEST: 
 
________________________            __________________________        
Robert Schaefer, Chairman            Amber Brown, CMC 
         Town Clerk  



































































Town of Melbourne Beach 
Board of Adjustment 

Notice of Public Hearing 
 

 
April 22, 2025 
 
The Board of Adjustment will hold public hearings on Thursday, May 15, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. or as soon 
thereafter as may be convenient to the Board, in the Community Center, at 509 Ocean Avenue, Melbourne Beach, 
FL, 32951, to hear interested persons in regard to the requested variance applications: 
 
Coastal Construction Variance Application: 301 Oak Street 
Coastal Construction Variance Application #VV2025-0002: This is a request for a Coastal Construction Variance 
for the construction of building additions to the existing single-family home from the Town of Melbourne Beach 
Code Section 5A-4 certain structures prohibited as follows: 
 

This code section prohibits the construction of any major structures or the excavation of any material seaward 
of the coastal setback line. In accordance with the application, this is a request for a coastal construction 
variance to construct an open garage entry cover and a porch deck on the landward side of the residential 
structure. 
 
Property Description:  The property is legally described by the Brevard County Property Appraiser as: 
Parcel ID:  28-38-05-FU-1-8 
Legal Description:  BEAUJEANS PLAT OF MELBOURNE BEACH REPLAT OF BLKS 1, 3 LOT 8, N 
65 FT OF LOT 9, LOT 22 EX S 10 FL BLK 1 

 
The application was submitted by Clayton Bennett, P.E., on behalf of the homeowner John Moran.  
 
Applications may be reviewed during normal business hours 8:30 am to 4:30 pm in the Town Clerk’s Office, 507 
Ocean Avenue, Melbourne Beach, FL.  Interested parties may be heard at the public hearing or may submit written 
comments to the Town Clerk’s Office.  This matter is subject to quasi-judicial rules of procedure.  Interested parties 
should limit contact with the Board of Adjustment on this topic to properly noticed public hearings or to written 
communication to the Town Clerk's Office. 
 
Pursuant to Section 286.0105, Florida Statutes, the Town hereby advises the public that if a person decides to appeal 
any decision made by this Board with respect to this or any matter considered at its hearing, such person must ensure 
that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which 
the appeal is to be based.  This notice does not constitute consent by the Town for the introduction or admission 
into evidence of otherwise inadmissible or irrelevant evidence, nor does it authorize challenges or appeals not 
otherwise allowed by law. 
 
The needs of a hearing or visually impaired person shall be met if the Town of Melbourne Beach is notified at least 
48 hours prior to the public hearing by any person wishing assistance. 
 
Amber Brown, Town Clerk 
Town of Melbourne Beach 
507 Ocean Avenue 
Melbourne Beach, Florida  32951 
Phone 321-724-5860 Fax 321-984-8994 


	1 Agenda Packet Cover Page
	2 250515 BOA Agenda
	3 250220 BOA Draft Minutes
	4 301 Oak Street Variance with Plans
	5 Notice of Public Hearing

